CAPE

Centre for Academic and Personal Excellence Institute



CHARTER AGREEMENT

Ministerial Approval: September 18, 1995

Amended: May 17, 2007 Revised: May 24, 2011 Revised: June 1, 2016 Amended: June 29, 2020 Amended: June 24, 2024 Sarah E. Chardlan

Table of Contents

SECTION 1. THE CHARTER SCHOOL	3
SECTION 2. BACKGROUND	3
SECTION 3. VISION AND MISSION	4
SECTION 4. PHILOSOPHY, PURPOSE, GOALS, and OUTCOMES	4
Philosophy and Beliefs	4
Purpose Charter Goals and Outcomes	5 5
SECTION 5. INSTRUCTIONAL STRATEGIES	6
Integrated Program	6
Personalized Program	6
Uniqueness	6
Learning Environment	7
SECTION 6. RESEARCH IN SUPPORT OF INSTRUCTIONAL STRATEGIES	8
SECTION 7. DEMOGRAPHICS	8
Population	8
Student Selection Criteria	8
Some of our Current Key Organizational Strategies	9
Attendance Area	9
Enrolment and School Building Requirements	9
SECTION 8. SHARING INNOVATION	9
SECTION 9. GOVERNANCE	10
Society	10
Charter Board	10
Role of the Parents	10
SECTION 10. AMENDING THE CHARTER	10
Basis and Process of Amendment	10
Minor Amendments	11
SECTION 11. TERM OF THE CHARTER	11
SECTION 12. DISSOLUTION	11
Basis and Process of Dissolution	11
Disposition of Property and Finance	12
Transfer of Student Records	12
APPENDIX I. Bibliography	13
APPENDIX II. Commitment to Return Form	19
APPENDIX III. Charter Review Process	21

SECTION 1. THE CHARTER SCHOOL

CAPE - Centre for Academic and Personal Excellence Institute



SECTION 2. BACKGROUND

Providing parents a choice of educational environments acknowledges the diversity of children and students within our province and that not all environments serve all students in reaching their potential. Within the community of Medicine Hat, there are distinct groups of learners whose parents believe their children's needs are best met in a smaller environment, where assessments can be conducted regularly and in a timely fashion, where personalized educational supports can be more easily adapted within an integrated, flexible learning environment, and that without these supports their children have or will "fall through the cracks" or will not reach their full potential. CAPE was established to address the needs of these students. We are the public charter school that personalizes programs for students with diverse and unique profiles by providing flexible, integrated learning within a small class environment.

CAPE opened its door in September 1994. It operated as a private school for one year and received its charter in September 1995 with the purpose of fostering academic and personal excellence. The charter was renewed in 1998, 2001, 2006, 2011, and 2016. CAPE's integrated personalized program has evolved over time in response to identified needs within its population. CAPE's integrated program started as the integration of complementary subjects only, moved to the addition of mathematics/science and language/social integration, and eventually developed into its current total integration form. The personalized program supported a select number of students though Individualized Program Plans while the majority benefited from adapted and/or modified programs within the classroom. In its current iteration, CAPE's personalized program is grounded in research, is data-driven, provides Individualized Program Plans for every child and student, benefits from the expertise of a full time psychologist and external services, responds quickly to student needs, and supports the whole person. CAPE's evolution has and continues to be based on investigations of research-based practices to best suit our ever-changing population.

Because of the type of programming and supports CAPE offers, we tend to attract a high percentage of students with identified issues: mild-moderate codes, gifted codes, twice exceptional codes, multiple codes, high-functioning autism, and a conglomerate of challenges. Not all of these needs fall within the cognitive realm. Rather, there is an increasing number of students who have required emotional supports and/or overt social skill development in addition to "schooling". Other students, who do not present with codes, still have unique learning profiles. By acknowledging the individual learner profile, CAPE strives to provide the program best suited to each student's gifts, abilities, and interests. Partnerships with post-secondary institutions keep our program grounded in current, peer-reviewed research in areas that directly impact our students such as gifted education, individualization, differentiation, numeracy, and literacy. CAPE focuses on supporting the personal and academic development of the student as a whole.

Over time, CAPE's demographics have changed. At times, the number of gifted codes has accounted for as much as 40% of our population. In other years, the number of students on the Autism Spectrum have been up to 50% in one class. Providing for each of these students requires an ever-increasing understanding of assessment procedures, impacts on learning, recommended supports from research, implementation, tracking, and reassessment. Our collaborative co-operative team approach is integral to our ability to support our students. The personalized program in particular benefits from the work within the school and with our community partners. We are thus able to respond efficiently and effectively to the challenges our students face. Our ability to immediately respond and, as one evaluator once said, 'turn on a dime' is also facilitated by our small size and school-based decision-making.

SECTION 3. VISION AND MISSION

3.1 Our Vision

To promote the development of knowledge, skills, attitudes, and values that support 21st century citizenry and life-long learning within a holistic, personalized, integrated, flexible learning environment.

3.2 Our Mission

To foster the development of academic and personal skills through the provision of a personalized, integrated program so that each child or student may achieve success in the pursuit of personal and academic goals, strive for personal excellence, become engaged thinkers and ethical citizens with an entrepreneurial spirit, independent learners, and world citizens.

SECTION 4. PHILOSOPHY, PURPOSE, GOALS, and OUTCOMES

4.1 Philosophy and Beliefs

CAPE's personalized, integrated program within a community of learners that encompasses the school, parents, and community and supports each student's efforts in a welcoming, caring, respectful, and safe learning environment. Each learner is offered opportunities for engagement in the pursuit of personal and academic goals at a pace that is appropriate for the learner, that utilizes a learning style that best suits the learner, and provides the learner with avenues for demonstration of learning. Because this program is student-centred, each learner is provided opportunities for investigations and explorations within an open-ended curriculum within the context of Alberta Education Program of Studies.

CAPE believes that:

- 1. Each student, as an individual, presents with particular academic and personal needs because of a variety of factors.
- 2. Students, when placed in a student-centred environment, have the greatest potential of becoming successful students and life-long learners.
- 3. Students are best served through a personalized, integrated program which is flexible, innovative, and responsive.
- 4. The school, as a collaborative instructional team, creates a shared learning atmosphere for all members to develop and maintain a student-centred learning environment. Students are grouped and/or streamed to create highly effective learning environments.
- 5. Parents, as partners in the learning community, provide valuable perspectives and support for their children and deserve to have a choice in an educational program which best supports individualized learning.
- 6. The community is a partner in the learning as it provides the domain for opportunities and experiences which expand beyond the school, including leadership, collaboration, diversity, and resourcefulness. are mandated to



Charter schools

4.2 Purpose

The purpose of CAPE's personalized, integrated program is to support the learner's acquisition of cross-curricular competencies, critical thinking and problem-solving skills, and other academic skills while also developing personal skills such as relationships-building, self-advocacy, creation of opportunities, risk-taking, and achieving goals.

CAPE's kindergarten program is a voluntary, pre-school, full-day, every-day, educational program offered to eligible children. The kindergarten program emphasizes a developmental process that encourages every child to grow intellectually, physically, socially, and emotionally at rate that respects the potential of each individual child. It therefore aligns with CAPE's grade 1-9 integrated, personalized program.

4.3 Charter Goals and Outcomes

CAPE defines excellence as:

- (a) the achievement of the student's personal best in academic pursuits;
- (b) the development of social and interpersonal skills (such as anger management, problem solving, democratic decision making, tolerance, and/or acceptance of different beliefs), self-esteem, self-motivation, and self-direction (independent learning), and the development of 'citizenry' skills.

Charter Goals		Outcomes	
Charter Goal 1	CAPE School is focused on achieving academic excellence.	Outcome 1	Student learning is improved with personalized information from regular and timely assessments so that students are working at their own personal best.
		Outcome 2	Student progress shows above average growth.
		Outcome 3	Students become well-rounded individuals with a broad knowledge base which they can apply in flexible contexts.
		Outcome 4	Students have a greater awareness of the world around them through exposure to other cultures, ideas, and beliefs and integrate ideas from various disciplines.
Charter Goal 2	CAPE School is focused on achieving personal excellence.	Outcome 1	Students have acquired personal and interpersonal skills so that they may become productive citizens of the world and life-long learners.
		Outcome 2	Students learn the importance of caring for others, learn respect for others, and treat others fairly in both smaller and larger contexts.

SECTION 5. INSTRUCTIONAL STEGIES

5.1 Integrated Program

CAPE's personalized program is delivered within the context of integrated learning and teaching. Integration is a cross-curricular approach to program development, a "whole" learning process in which the core content is made richer with meaningful experiences that include the arts, wellness, multiculturalism and global awareness, citizenry, community involvement, and skills development. The program foundations come from the social studies and sciences curricula. Language and mathematics, as well as other curricula, are purposefully woven into the learning experience. Learning experiences and opportunities are added to enrich the environment, increase the relevancy of the material, and engage learners. Within this context, assessment practices are varied and reflect the diverse concepts explored. CAPE's integration program has evolved over time from integration of elective subjects only to integration under the broad descriptors of "Humanities" and "Sciences". The timetable provides for large blocks of time in support of this practice. Physical Education is accommodated within the schedule so as to provide daily physical activities.

5.2 Personalized Program

A research-based, data-driven, purposeful, collaborative, and cyclical process through which each student's personalized program is developed, implemented, monitored, and re-evaluated to maximize the achievement of personal goals through the acquisition of knowledge, skills, and attitudes.

1. Data Collection

- Assessment of student current competencies and capacity. Assessment can be cognitive, academic, social, emotional, behavioural, and/or sensory. Valid standardized assessment tools are used to 'drill down' as needed.
- Anecdotal and survey data are collected from students, parents, and teachers, past student files, current classroom assessments, standardized tests, and current diagnostic assessment results.
- Individual learner profiles are developed.
- 2. Development of an Individual Support Plan
- Teachers, support staff, administration, school psychologist, parents, students, and community agencies collaborate in the development of the Individual Program Plan.
- The Individual Program Plan and the individual profile are used to establish effective learning groups.
- 3. Implementation and tracking of individual achievement.
- Responsive periodic re-assessment of student competencies and capacity facilitate modifications to the plan as needed.
- 4. Examination of viable options as the individual support plan evolves.
- The Personal Learning Plan/individual Support Plan is a living document that evolves as the student needs change.

5.3 Uniqueness

- CAPE provides a personalized, integrated, flexible, school-wide program that seamlessly blends and supports the whole child.
- Each aspect of the school program is based on investigations of research-based practices to best suit our ever-changing population of diverse learners.
- Students are supported through an effective and extremely timely response to assessed student needs through a collaborative, multidisciplinary team.
- Partnerships with parents facilitate the parents' understanding of their children's needs, ways through which the children can be supported personally, and how the school and parents can work together to create a flexible, responsive environment to maximize learning.
- Partnerships with community provide access to external services and environments that support both personalized learning and groups of learners.

• Partnerships with post-secondary institutions support research, staff development, and staff capacity as researchers, and support the sharing of best practices with regional, provincial, and national education partners.

5.4 Learning Environment

CAPE provides a safe, caring, and supportive learning environment for each learner. The learning environment is purposely designed to support student engagement, the pursuit of personal best, capacity, and citizenship.

Parents choose CAPE with the expectation that its environment is understanding, knowledgeable, and responsive to the needs of their children. Parents learn about their children as they develop and the school supports the acquisition of knowledge so that parents may support their children effectively.

The Board, the administration, and the staff are understanding, accepting, and responsive to the distinct characteristics and needs of each child/student. CAPE's small class size and low adult/learner ratio, flexible learning groupings, integrated learning, and differentiated and personalized opportunities provide

learners with essential personal, physical, intellectual, emotional, and social experiences as they pursue academic and personal

excellence.

CAPE's learning environment reaches into the community to create partnerships which are not only conducive to student engagement but also foster a sense of belonging and of community. These relationships foster and promote life-long learning, global ethical citizenry, and the entrepreneurial spirit. Collaboration within the community allows for learners-mentors and/or role model interactions and for opportunities to participate in experiences that support successful engagement.









SECTION 6. RESEARCH IN SUPPORT OF INSTRUCTIONAL STRATEGIES

A bibliography supporting the instructional strategies is found in Appendix I.

SECTION 7. DEMOGRAPHICS

7.1 Population

CAPE school offers a Kindergarten to grade 9 program. CAPE Public Charter School provides a safe, caring, and supportive environment for any student who believes, or whose parents believe, that CAPE's program is best suited to the needs of that student. It supports a population comprised of diverse complex learners that includes students with Mild/Moderate, Twice Exceptional, Severe, Gifted and Gifted/Disabled codes, students that are not coded but require supports, as well as students requiring little to no additional supports. Our kindergarten students also reflect our general population and includes students that receive Program Unit Funding.

Integrated Learning Environment

7.2 Student Selection Criteria

Pre-Requisites to Admittance:

- 1. Any parent/guardian interested in enrolling a child/student at CAPE is required to complete a Waiting List Form.
- 2. Parents/guardians shall attend an orientation meeting at which the CAPE philosophy, mission and goals, teaching methodology, and protocols such as assessments and IPP development, student evaluations and reporting, dress code, discipline policy, and promotion standards are discussed.
- 3. Parents/guardians that do not agree with CAPE's philosophy, mission and goals, teaching methodology, and protocols and/ or are unwilling to comply with these prerequisites, will be asked to withdraw their child/student's waiting list form.
- 4. Parents/guardians engage in a transparent, accurate, and timely discussion regarding the student's academic and personal needs with the administration to determine whether or not the CAPE program has the potential of meeting the student's needs.
- 5. A review of previous school information and parent(guardian)/administration discussion must indicate that the CAPE program has the potential of meeting the student's needs.

Admittance into grades 1-9

- 1. A personalized copy of the "Commitment to Return" form is provided to all parents/guardians of students currently enrolled (copy of the form can be found in Appendix III). Students whose parents fail to return this form by the stated deadline shall be considered as 'not returning". This information shall be used to determine available spaces for the next academic year.
- 2. Waiting list students whose parent(s)/guardian(s) has/have met the pre-requisite(s) shall be admitted to CAPE school, subject to the availability of spaces, on a first-come first-served basis.
- 3. Siblings of students already enrolled, past students wishing to return, and staff children will be admitted to CAPE school, subject to meeting the pre-requisite(s) and to availability of spaces, on a first come first-served basis, no priority admittance.
- 4. The student is considered enrolled once CAPE school has received the completed written registration form prescribed by CAPE school.

Admittance into Kindergarten

- 1. Waiting list children whose parent(s) or guardian(s) has/have met the pre-requisite(s) shall be admitted to CAPE school, subject to the availability of spaces, on a first-come first-served basis.
- 2. Siblings of students already enrolled, and staff children will be admitted to CAPE school, subject to meeting the prerequisite(s) and to availability of spaces, on a first come first-served basis, no priority admittance.
- 3. The child is considered enrolled once CAPE school has received the completed written registration form prescribed by CAPE school.

7.3 Some of Our Current Key Organizational Strategies

Class Size

CAPE's class size, grounded in research and Alberta Commission on Learning, is one factor that supports the school's personalized program. Classes are capped at 18+/-1 for Kindergarten, at 20 +/- 1 for grade 1 to grade 3, at 22+/-1 for grades 4 and 5, and at 24+/-1 for grades 6 to 9. The smaller class sizes allow for greater time for personalized supports and reasonable, responsive implementation of accommodations and recommendations from assessments and research.

Educational Support

Educational assistants are instrumental in the delivery of the personalized program. As such, they are valued and valuable members of the educational team. Therefore, kindergarten through to grade 2 classes are provided with a full-time educational assistant while the 3-9 classes are provided with the services of an educational assistant if the student needs within the group are such that support is warranted. Students that have been identified with severe needs are supported within the class through educational assistants based on assessments and recommendations. The support from educational assistants allows for a greater variety of accommodations and recommendations to be implemented in a timely manner and tracked for effectiveness.

7.4 Attendance Area

Medicine Hat, Redcliff, and surrounding area.

7.5 Enrolment and School Building Requirements

CAPE School is intended to serve kindergarten children and grades 1 through 9 students.

The school's current facility is located at 201 - 5th Street SW, Medicine Hat, AB, T1A 4G7

SECTION 8. SHARING INNOVATION

CAPE Public Charter School has and will continue to share successful innovations with the education community. Each stakeholder group not only purposefully seeks opportunities through which to share our successful innovations but also to learn with and from our education partners.

CAPE has and will continue to:

- be actively involved with The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools;
- present at The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools conferences and meetings;
- present at provincial conferences such as the College of Alberta School Superintendents/ Alberta Education Conference and the Rural Education Symposium as well as the South East Alberta Teacher Convention;
- submit proposals for articles for publication in such publications as *The CASS CONNECTION* and CASSA's *Leaders & Learners*;
- publish articles in specialized publications; and
- engage in research and pursue publication opportunities.

CAPE will strengthen partnerships with:

• post-secondary institutions such as Simon Frasier University (Gifted Education), the University of Lethbridge (Action Research) and the Medicine Hat College (mentorship);

- education organizations such as The Association of Alberta Public Charter Schools, College of Alberta School Superintendents, and other public jurisdictions such as the Medicine Hat Catholic Board of Education, Medicine Hat School District #76, and Prairie Rose School Division #4 to collaborate in professional development initiatives;
- community organizations such as Community Health; and
- educational organizations such as the Regional Collaborative Service Delivery.

SECTION 9. GOVERNANCE

9.1 SOCIETY

- 9.1.1 The CAPE CENTRE FOR ACADEMIC AND PERSONAL EXCELLENCE INSTITUTE is the sponsoring body for CAPE School and holds ultimate authority and responsibility for the operation and management of the school.
- 9.1.2 The Bylaws of CAPE CENTRE FOR ACADEMIC AND PERSONAL EXCELLENCE INSTITUTE, describe the authority, mandate, and responsibilities of the CAPE Board and the Society.

9.2 CHARTER BOARD

Pursuant to provisions of the School Act and other relevant legislation, the Society will establish a charter board with a mandate to act on behalf of the Society in the operation and management of the school in accordance with the School Act, the Charter, and the Society Bylaws. The Board of the CAPE School Society will function as the governing Board of the School.

9.3 ROLE OF PARENTS

- 9.3.1 Parents are recognized as vital partners in the education of their children and as such are involved in the school through:
 - a) partners in the learning;
 - b) CAPE Board of Directors;
 - c) CAPE School Council;
 - d) input in the Education Plan;
 - e) consultants;
 - f) volunteers;
 - g) guest speakers.
- 9.3.2 A School Council has been established in accordance with the School Education Act and functions in accordance with the School Councils Regulation (2007 2019) and its By-Laws (2004 2023).

SECTION 10. AMENDING THE CHARTER

10.1 Basis and Process for Amendment

- (1) Any member of the Charter Board or the Society may request that the Charter Board review a term or condition of the Charter.
- (2) The Charter Board shall meet within four to eight (4 to 8) weeks to consider the amendment request. The Charter Board's decision shall be communicated, in writing, within forty-eight (48) hours to the requesting member. If the amendment is rejected, it may be discussed again after one (1) year.
- (3) If the amendment proposal is accepted, the Charter Board shall have between four and eight (4 and 8) weeks to provide Society members with a copy of the proposed amendment(s) and call a general meeting of the Society. At this meeting, the

proposed amendment will either be approved or rejected by the Society members. Minor rewording of the amendment, which does not affect either the substance or intent of the amendment, may also be considered at this meeting.

- (4) The decision of the Society is final and the result of the vote will be conveyed in writing to the requesting member within forty-eight (48) hours. If the amendment proposal is rejected, it may be discussed again after one (1) year.
- (5) In the event the proposed amendment(s) are approved by the Society, the Charter Board shall seek to obtain the necessary approval from the Minister in accordance with the regulations.

10.2 Minor Amendments

(1) The Charter Board may, on its own authority, initiate and approve minor amendments that do not affect the substance or intent of the charter. Following Charter Board approval, the amendment shall be forwarded to the Minister for final approval.

SECTION 11. TERM OF THE CHARTER

11.1 Charter Renewal

The term of the Charter is that term established by the Minister, September 1, 2021 and continue through August 31, 2036. When applying for charter renewal, the Charter Board consults with all stakeholders, considers recommendations made in evaluation reports and complies with all required changes, and adheres to the Charter School Regulation 2022.

SECTION 12. DISSOLUTION

12.1 Basis and Process for Dissolution

- (1) At any time prior to the expiration of the Charter the operation of CAPE may be terminated by:
 - (a) a direction made by the Charter Board to terminate the operation of CAPE; or
 - (b) a direction by the Minister to repeal the Charter.
- (2) In Order for the operation of CAPE to be terminated by the Charter Board, the following process must be followed:
 - (a) the Charter Board will advise the Minister, in writing, of its intent to terminate the operation of CAPE at the end of that school year;
 - (b) the Charter Board will call a Special meeting (the "dissolution meeting") of CAPE;
 - (c) the Charter Board will discuss with the Members the rationale behind the recommendation to terminate the operation of CAPE;
 - (d) the Charter Board will propose by Special Resolution that the operations of CAPE be terminated;
 - (e) the Members will vote on the Special Resolution to terminate the operations of CAPE;
 - (f) upon:
 - (i) passing the Special Resolution to terminate the operations of CAPE; and
 - (ii) the Charter Board receiving the written approval of the Minister to terminate the operations of CAPE; the Charter Board will begin the dissolution process, and shall be carried out by the Charter Board with the assistance and guidance of the School Council, if necessary. The Charter Board shall use its best efforts to meet financial and other obligations of the school throughout the dissolution process.
- (3) If the Charter is being terminated under the direction of the Minister, the following process must be followed:
 - (a) the Charter Board will call a Special meeting (the "dissolution meeting") of the Charter as soon as conveniently possible;
 - (b) the Charter Board will discuss with the Members the rationale behind the Minister's decision to repeal the Charter;
 - (c) the Charter Board will begin the dissolution process, and shall be carried out by the Charter Board with the assistance and guidance of the School Council, if necessary. The Charter Board shall use its best efforts to meet financial and other obligations of the school throughout the dissolution process.

- (4) Within two (2) weeks of its decision, the Charter Board shall, in accordance with relevant legislation, give written notice to all stakeholders of the decision to dissolve the Charter Stakeholders include the Minister, the Society members, teachers and employees, and all members of the Charter Board, and the parents and students. Notice of dissolution shall provide the reasons for, the effective date of, and the proposed plan for dissolution.
- (5) Prior to the effective date of dissolution, but no later than 90 days prior to the last day of the academic year, the Charter Board shall, in accordance with relevant regulation, provide each student and their parent(s)/guardian(s) with support for an alternate program; program descriptions, contact information, fee structures, and counsellor support.

12.2 Disposition of Property and Finance

- (1) After providing notice to stakeholders as provided above, the Charter Board shall proceed to:
 - (a) provide notice pursuant to any rental or lease agreement for buildings, land, property, or facilities;
 - (b) determine a value for any owned buildings, land, property, facilities, or other assets;
 - (c) liquidate any owned assets either by public auction or private sale or donation to non-profit charitable organization;
 - (d) discharge the liabilities of the school;
 - (e) provide the Society and the Minister with a full accounting of the finances of the school;
 - (f) return any surplus attributable to provincial funding to the Provincial Treasurer;
 - (g) turn over to the Society any residual funds, at which point the Society shall be dissolved in accordance with the Society Bylaws.

12.3 Transfer of Student Records

- (1) The Charter Board shall provide each registered student with a transfer-of-records form, which is to be provided to the receiving school. Within fourteen (14) days of receipt of the completed transfer form from the receiving school, the Charter Board shall ensure that the student's records are forwarded according to instructions on the form.
- (2) The Charter Board shall remain responsible for the transfer of the student's records for a period of three (3) months from the date it provided the transfer form; thereafter, any remaining student records shall be forwarded to the Minister with a request that they be held on record until claimed by the student.
- (3) The responsibility for providing accurate and fully complete information on the transfer form shall remain at all times with the parent or guardian, as the case may be, and the Charter Board shall not be held liable for acting upon inaccurate or incomplete information.
- (4) The Charter Board shall ensure that all student evaluation records are disposed of in such a manner as to safeguard the privacy of the students. The Charter Board shall ensure that all school records that require storage are sent to the Minister and that all other documents are disposed of in a secure manner so as to safeguard the privacy of the teachers, administrators, students, and parents.

APPENDIX I

Bibliography

Action Research:

Mertler, C. A. (2009). *Action research in the classroom: Teachers as researchers in the classroom* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Mertler, C. A. (2014). Action research: Improving schools and empowering educators (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA:

SAGE Publications, Inc.

Schwalbach, E. M. (2003). *Value and validity in action research: A guidebook for reflective practitioners*. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press, Inc.

Stringer, E. (2008). Research in education (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education Inc.

Assessment:

Chapman, C., & King, R.. (2012). *Differentiated assessment strategies: One tool does not fit all* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin: A SAGE Company.

Clarke, S.. (2008). Active learning through formative assessment. London: Hodder Education.

Earl, L. M. (2013). Assessment as learning: Using classroom assessment to maximize student learning (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin, A SAGE Company.

Griffin, P., McGaw, B. & Care, E. (2012). Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills. Dordrecht NY: Springer.

Hume, K. (2010). 50 Tools and techniques for classroom assessment. Toronto, ON: Pearson Canada Inc.

Landrigan, C., & Mulligan, T. (2013). Assessment in perspective: Focusing on the reader behind the numbers. Portland, ME: Stenhouse Publishers.

Reeves, D. (2007). Ahead of the curve: The power of assessment to transform teaching and learning. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.

Tomlinson, C. A, & Moon, T. R. (2013). Assessment and student success in a differentiated classroom. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.

William, D. (2011). Embedded formative assessment. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.

Wormeli, R. (2006). Fair isn't always equal: Assessing & grading in the differentiated classroom. Portland, ME: Stenhouse Publishers.

Class Size:

Basic, N. (2010). Reducing class size: What do we know? Canadian Education Association. Toronto.

Betts, J. R., & Shkolnik, J. L. The behavioral effects of variations in class size: The case of math teachers. Educational Evaluation And Policy Analysis, 21(2), 193-213.

- Biddle, B. J., & Berliner, D. C. (2002). Small class size and its effects. Educational Leadership, 59(5), 12-23.
- Class size and student achievement (no date). Retrieved from http://www.centerforpubliceducation.org/Main-Menu
 Organizing-a-school/Class-size-and-student-achievement-At-a-glance/Class-size-and-student-achievement-Reasearch-review.html
- Finn, G. M., Pannozzo, G.M., & Achilles, C. M. (2003). The "why's" of class size: Student behavior in small classes. *Review of Educational Research*, 73, 321-368.
- Konstantopoulos, S. (2009). What are the long-term effects of small classes on the achievement gap? Evidence from the lasting benefits study. *American Journal of Education*, 116(1), 125-154.
- Robinson, G. E. (1990). *Synthesis of research on the effects of class size*. Arlington, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Schanzenbach, D.W. (2014). Does class size matter? Boulder, CO: National Education Policy Center.
- Zinger, D.. (2014). Class size and academic results, with a focus on children from culturally, linguistically and economically disenfranchised communities. Evidence Base, 1.

Evidence-Based Teaching and Learning:

- Hume, K. (2010). The evidence-based school: An administrator's guide. Toronto, ON: Pearson Education Canada.
- Hume, K. (2010). Evidence to action: Engaging and teaching young adolescents through assessment. Toronto, ON: Pearson Education Canada.

Gifted Education:

- Daniels, S., & Piechowski, M. M. (2009). Living with intensity. Tucson, AZ: Great Potential Press.
- Felder, M.T., Taradash, G. D., Antoine, E., Ricci, M. C., Stemple, M., & Byamugisha, M. (2015). *Increasing Diversity in gifted education: Research-based strategies for identification and program services*. Waco TX: Prufrock Press Inc.
- Gifted Child Quarterly; Official Journal of the National association for Gifted Children: On going subscription.
- Heller, K. A., Mönks, F. J., Robert J., & Subotnik, R. F. (2000). *International handbook of giftedness and talent* (2nd ed.). Kidlington, OX, UK: Elsevier Science Ltd.
- Kennedy, D. M., Banks, R. S., & Grandin, T. (2011). *Bright not broken: Gifted kids, ADHD, and autism: Why twice exceptional students are stuck and how to help them.* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, A Wiley Imprint.
- Lovecky, D. V. (2004). *Different minds; Gifted children with AD/HD, aspergers syndrome, and other learning deficits*. New York, NY: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Robinson, A., Shore, B. M., & Enersen, D. L. (2007). *Best practices in gifted education: An evidence-based guide*. Waco, TX: Prufrock Press Inc.

- Silverman, L. K. (2013). Giftedness 101. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company, LLC.
- Smutnky, J. F. (2003). Gifted education: Promising practices. Bloomington, IN: Phi Delta Kappa Educational Foundation.
- Trail, B. A. (2011). Twice-exceptional gifted children: Understanding, teaching, and counseling gifted students. Waco TX: Prufrock Press Inc.

Integration, Differentiation, and Individualization:

- Armstrong, T. (2009). Multiple intelligences in the classroom (3rd ed.). Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Drake, S. M. (2007). Creating standards-based integrated curriculum: Aligning curriculum, content, assessment, and instruction (2nd Ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Freeman, Y. S., Freeman, D. E., & Ramírez, R. (2008). Diverse learners in the mainstream classroom: Strategies for supporting all students across content areas: English language learners; students with disabilities; gifted talented students. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Pigdon, K., & Woolley, M. (1992). *The big picture; Integrating children's learning*. Armadale VIC, Australia: Eleanor Curtain Publishing.
- Rennie, L., Venville, G., & Wallace, J. (2012). *Knowledge that counts in a global community; Exploring the contribution of integration of curriculum*. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Schwarz, P. (2013). From possibility to success: Achieving positive student outcomes in inclusive classrooms. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (2001). How to differentiate instruction in mixed-ability classrooms (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Tomlinson, C. A., & McTighe, J. (2006). *Integrating differentiated instruction and understanding by design: Connecting content and kids*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Wilkinson, L. A. (2010). A best practice guide to assessment and intervention for autism and asperger syndrome in schools. Philadelphia, PA: Jessica Kingsley Publishers

Leadership:

- Bezeau, L. (1989). Educational administration for canadian teachers. Mississauga, ON: Copp Clark Pitman Ltd.
- Danielson, C. (2006). Teacher leadership that strengthens professional practice. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- Danielson, C., & McGreal T. L. (2000). *Teacher evaluation to enhance professional practice*. Alexandria, VA: ASCD.
- DuFour, R., & Marzano R. J. (2011). *Leaders of learning: How districts, schools, and classroom leaders improve student achievement*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree Press.

- Fullan, M. (2001). Leading in a culture of change. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, A Wiley Imprint
- Fullan, M. (2014). *The principal; Three keys to maximizing impact*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, A Wiley Imprint
- Kay, K., & Greenhill, V. (2013). *The leader's guide to 21st century education: 7 steps for schools and districts*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education Inc..
- Marzano, R. J., Waters, T., & McMulty B. A. (2005). School leadership that works: From research to results. Alexandria VA: ASCD.
- Robinson, V. (2011). Student-centered leadership. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Whitaker, T. (2003) What great principals do differently: Fifteen things that matter most. Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.

Personal Growth:

- Blankstein, A. M. (2010). Facilitator's guide: Failure is not an option: 6 principles for making student success the only option (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin, A SAGE Company.
- Hattie, J. A. C. (2009). Visible learning: A synthesis of over 800 meta-analyses relating to achievement. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Shanker, S. (2013). *Calm, alert, and learning: Classroom strategies for self regulation*. Don Mills, ON: Pearson Canada Inc.
- Stefani, L., Mason, R., & Pegler, C. (2007). The educational potential of e-portfolios: Supporting personal development and reflective learning. New York, NY: Routledge.

Professional Learning:

- DuFour, R., DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. (2008). Revisiting professional learning communities at work: New insights for improving schools. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.
- DuFour, R., & Eaker, R. (1998). *Professional learning communities at work: Best practices for enhancing student achievement*. Bloomington, IN: Solution Tree.

Student and Parent Engagement:

- Christenson, S. L., Reschly, A. L., & Wylie, C. (2012). *Handbook of research on student engagement*. New York: Springer.
- Davis, H. A., Summers, J. J., & Miller, L. M. An interpersonal approach to classroom management: Strategies for improving student engagement. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin; A SAGE Company.
- Ferlazzo, L., & Hammond, L. (2009). *Building parent engagement in schools*. Santa Barbara, CA: Linworth Publishing.

Hume, K. (2011). Tuned out: Engaging the 21st century learner. Toronto, ON: Pearson Canada Inc.

Johson, M. (2012). *The 21st century parent: Multicultural parent engagement leadership strategies handbook.* Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing Inc.

Samples, J. (2009). The parent connection: An educator's guide to family engagement. Galax, VA: ENGAGE! Press.

Walsh, J. A., & Sattes, B. D. (2011). *Thinking through quality questioning: Deepening student engagement*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin; A SAGE Company.

Other:

Deewey, J. (1975). Moral principals in education. Carbondale: Southern Illinois University Press.

Gutek, G. L. (1988). *Philosophical and ideological perspectives on education*. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.

Strike, K. A., & Soltis, J. F. (1985). The ethics of teaching. New York. NY: Teachers College Press.

Titley, E. B. (1990) Canadian education: Historical themes and contemporary issues. Calgary, AB: Detselig Enterprises

Limited.

APPENDIX II

Commitment to Return Form

CAPE - Centre for Academic and Personal Excellence 830A Balmoral Street SE Medicine Hat, AB T1A 0W9

Tel: (403) 528-2983 Fax: (403) 528-3048 www.capeisgreat.org



201?-201? COMMITMENT to RETURN

______, parent of the following student(s) make my intent

Student Name	Current Grade	Returning to CAPE? Please write yes or no.	Supply Pack Fee Due upon the return of this form, payable by cash or cheque.
Student legal name input via SIS			Fee input by grade.
Please initial to indicate your If you have committed to your the supply pack will not be issu	student(s) returning	g, and your student does	
inventory. One should also not negatively impacts the Board-e	te that a student that	has committed to retu	
understand by committing to return lecision-making process regarding the n student numbers), and the register class).	ne hiring or laying o	ff of staff, the purchasi	ng of school supplies (dep
,			

Please return Commitment to Return Form with supply pack fees by (date).

APPENDIX III

Charter Review Process

- * structure a committee via open invitation consisting of Board, School Council, community, senior and site administration, staff and parent representative(s);
- * analysis of student, parent and staff surveys and student interviews;
- * collaborative review of Alberta Education documentation; Ministerial Order (#001/2013), School and Education Acts and Regulations, Inspiriting Education, Curriculum Redesign, Inclusive Education, Framework for Student Learning;
- * collaborative review of other charters;
- * sectioning of original CAPE charter and revision of each section reflecting the current educational best practices within CAPE and the Alberta Education framework;
- * revisiting and review of each section by stakeholder groups;
- * first draft shared with Board, School Council, staff and parents, feedback sought and discussed/incorporated;
- * development of second draft, e-mailed to Education Manager, two charter schools superintendent and a University of Calgary professor;
- * feedback analyzed and development of final draft;
- * Presentation to the Board of Directors for review and adoption.
- * Further revisions were undertaken in response to Ministerial and Alberta Education request attached to our charter renewal letter.